FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 2/12/2024 4:19 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/13/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON **CLERK**

Supreme Court No. 102791-5 COA No. 389910-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COWLES COMPANY, Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY THURMAN, Respondent/Cross Appellant/Cross-Appellant/ Petitioner for Review.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MARY SCHULTZ WSBA # 14198 Mary Schultz Law, P.S. 2111 E. Red Barn Lane Spangle, WA 99031 (509) 245-3522, Ext. 1 Mary@Mschultz.com

Attorney for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER.

The Petitioner is Jeff Thurman, the Respondent in this appeal and Cross Appellant in Division III.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

This petition requests this Supreme Court's review of Division III's published opinion in *Thurman v. Cowles Co.*, 541 P.3d 403 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024). A copy of the decision is in Appendix A at 001.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Whether RCW 4.105 et seq's Uniform Public Expression Protection Act is constitutional under the U.S. Const. amend. I, the Washington State Constitution's Article I §5, Article I §10, and its Article I, § 12.
- 2. Whether RCW 4.105 impermissibly applies retroactively to remove vested rights in violation of the Washington Const. art. I, § 3.
- 3. Whether RCW 4.105's numerous conflicts with court rules, as Division III acknowledges exist, invalidates the

Act, or whether the court may simply rewrite the Act's statutory provisions, as Division III did here.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Petitioner Jeff Thurman was a decorated sergeant with the Spokane County Sheriff's Office before June 13, 2019. On that date, Defendant Cowles Company (Cowles) published a highly defamatory and inflammatory false headline and other false statements calling, and portraying, Sgt. Thurman as, a racist. On September 3, 2019, now-former Sgt. Thurman sued the Spokane County Sheriff for defamation. See Thurman v. Knezovich, 25 Wn. App. 2d 126, 130, (2023). On June 14, 2021, Mr. Thurman filed a separate defamation complaint against Defendant Cowles. It had been revealed that Cowles's information originated exclusively from one questionable source—Spokane County's Sheriff, Ozzie Knezovich. No investigative journalism had been conducted before Cowles adopted and published the Sheriff's statements as Cowles's own, because of an agreement made in advance between Cowles's editor and the Sheriff. On December 23, 2022, a jury

awarded Mr. Thurman and his wife a combined total of \$19,480,000 in defamation and discrimination damages against the Spokane County Sheriff for the Sheriff's defamation. *See Thurman Response and Cross Appeal, p, 22.* On July 25, 2021, with Mr. Thurman's separate June 14, 2021 action against Cowles also underway, Washington's RCW Chapter 4.105, entitled the "Uniform Public Expression Protection Act," (the "Act") became effective. RCW 4.105.903. It would be December 29,2021, 2022, five months after the Act's effective date, before Cowles invoked the Act, unilaterally issued its RCW 4.105.020 "notice" to Mr. Thurman,² and stopped Mr. Thurman's defamation case in its tracks, staying it for the duration of this appeal. RCW 4.105.030.

The Spokane County Superior Court trial court held that RCW 4.105 et seq.'s Act is constitutionally valid. It denied

¹ Appendix at 020.

² Appendix at 013.

³ Appendix at 014.

application of the Act to Mr. Thurman's defamation claims against Cowles because he had filed those claims before the Act went into effect. Cowles appealed, and Mr. Thurman cross-appealed.

Division III upholds the trial court deeming RCW 4.105 et. seq. constitutionally valid, but reverses the trial court's ruling and holds that the Act applies to Mr. Thurman's defamation claims filed before the Act's effective date because of the wording of RCW 4.105.903's transitional provision. It holds that, since Mr. Thurman continued to "assert" his original defamation claims after July 25, 2021, the Act retroactively applies to his original complaint. Division III agrees that numerous provisions of the Act conflict with court rules, so it rewrites some of the Act's statutory provisions to align them with the court rules. It does so after holding that it has no ability to rewrite plain statutory language; its rewriting is selective. It upholds a mandatory fee provision "as written" that chills constitutional rights. Petitioner Thurman seeks review.

V. ARGUMENT AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

The Court should accept review of Division III's ruling holding RCW 4.105's Uniform Public Expression Protection Act (Act) to be constitutional, becsause this is an issue of first impression. The ruling also involves significant questions of law under the Constitution of the Unites States and the Constitution of the State of Washington in that, while every person "may freely speak, write and publish on all subjects," citizens who abuse that right by defamation are "responsible for the abuse of that right" under Const. art. I, § 5,4 and the Act abrogates that constitutional responsibility, and denies its protections to citizens being defamed. Moreover, a significant questions of law arises under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution,⁵ because this Act impermissibly interferes with defamation

⁴ Appendix at 028.

⁵ Appendix at 031.

victims' guaranteed right of access to the courts and right to petition the Government for redress of grievances. Davis v. Cox, 183 Wash. 2d 269, 289 (2015), ref. Bill Johnson's Rests., Inc. v. *Nat'l Labor Relations Bd.*, 461 U.S. 731, 741 (1983). The ruling involves an issue of substantial public interest, because it upholds an Act which mandates the dismissal of defamation claims regardless of their merit, in violation of article I, § 5 and the First Amendment right of a victim to petition for relief from defamation. It chills constitutional rights under art. I, § 5, and the First Amendment by then mandating that the victim pay their defamer's fees, even when the victim's defamation claim has merit. Moreover, Division III has impermissibly applied the Act's transitional provision, RCW 4.105.903, retroactively, removing vested rights. Finally, the ruling conflicts with the principles established in Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr. 166 Wn.2d 974, 979 (2009), Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 275, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), and Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769 (2012). Mr. Thurman asks this Court to accept review and invalidate RCW 4.105 et seq. as unconstitutional, as applied to his defamation claims.

A. RCW 4.105 et seq.'s Uniform Public Expression

Protection Act impermissibly abrogates defamation

claims in the state of Washington.

Defamation is not protected speech. "[D]efamation is not the kind of public expression intended to be protected under the statute. (We agree)." Thurman v. Cowles Co., 541 P.3d at 409. There is "no constitutional value in false statements of fact," and false statements of fact do not advance any societal interest. Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 340 (1974) ref. New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 270 (1964). "There is no discernible compelling state interest in protecting false statements of fact directed at a private citizen." State ex rel. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. 119 Vote No! Comm., 135 Wn. 2d 618, 628 (1998). This state protects its citizens from defamation by enshrining accountability for that defamation in its Constitution at article 1 § 5. While a person "may freely speak, write and publish on all subjects," they are to be "responsible for the abuse of that right." *Id.* Division III also agrees that "[T]he right of access to the courts is an aspect of the First Amendment right to petition the Government for redress of grievances." *Thurman v. Cowles Co.*, 541 P.3d at 411, citing *Bill Johnson's Rests.*, *Inc. v. Nat'l Lab. Rels. Bd.*, 461 U.S. at 741. The legislature may not interfere with Washington citizens' access to civil court rule processes to redress wrongs. *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr.*, 166 Wn.2d 974; *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 275 (2015).

Division III holds that "the UPEPA applies to all of Mr. Thurman's defamation claims." *Thurman v Cowles*, 541 P.3d at 409. The Act abrogates accountability for defamation claims, however. The abrogation works through the statutes in sequence. A defamer collects their information for defamatory communication to the public, and under RCW 4.105.060(1), ⁶ the court "shall dismiss the complaint with prejudice" now because

⁶ Appendix at 016.

(a) the Act (chapter) applies because the defamation claim against the defamer is based on what the defamer asserts is their RCW $4.105.010 (2)(c)^7$ "exercise of the right of freedom of speech or of the press...on a matter of public concern." The victim cannot then establish the second conjunctive prong of RCW 4.105.060 (1)(b), that the chapter does *not* apply under RCW 4.105.010(3), because per the latter, while "this chapter does not apply to a cause of action asserted...(iii) Against a person primarily engaged in the business of selling ...goods or services (e.g., print media, online media, bloggers or podcasters, as examples), if the cause of action arises out of a communication related to the person's sale ...of (their) goods or services" under RCW 4.105.010(b), "This chapter applies to a cause of action asserted under (that same) subsection (a)(iii) "when the cause of action is:

(i) A legal action against a person arising from any act of that person, whether public or private, related to the

⁷ Appendix at 010.

gathering, receiving, posting, or processing of information for communication to the public, whether or not the information is actually communicated to the public, for the creation, dissemination, exhibition, or advertisement or other similar promotion of a dramatic, literary, musical, political, journalistic, or otherwise artistic work, ... no matter the method or extent of distribution..."

RCW 4.105.010 (3)(b)(i).

A defamation claim asserts legal action against a defamer for these very things. Thus, the defaming, e.g., podcaster need only say that they were gathering, receiving, or posting information for communication to the public, and for the dissemination of dramatic or artistic (or journalistic) work. The defamation action against them must now be dismissed under RCW 4.105.060 (1)(a) and (b). Subsection (1)(c) of RCW 4.105.060's mandatory dismissal statute is irrelevant, because the defamation claim is terminated at section (1)(b). The RCW 4.105.060 dismissal showings are conjunctive "and" showings, meaning that if section (1)(b) cannot be shown, as it cannot be when the defamer says they were intending to publish their defamation as artistic work, then section (1)(c) is not reached.

Because section (1)(b) cannot be met, the court "shall dismiss the complaint with prejudice." RCW 4.105.060 (1). This Act thereby abrogates all accountability for defamation, because all a defamer need do is publish their defamation as communication to the public. Defamation is not excepted. The Act has no merit requirement. The Act thereby impermissibly abolishes the article 1 § 5 constitutional right of a defamation victim to make their defamer "responsible for the abuse of that right."

The Act also impermissibly interferes with a victim's First Amendment right to petition. The Act's statutory processes violate Wash. Const. art. I, § 10,8 because the processes deny Mr. Thurman the administration of justice "without unnecesary delay." The administration of justice under art. 1 § 5 guarantees a victim of defamation the right to hold their defamer accountable for abuse of speech rights. The Act abrogates this right as well. It allows the defamer to unilaterally stop a

⁸ Appendix at 023.

defamation claim process for *years*, regardless of the defamation claim's merit and the damage being caused. The defamer need only send a letter to their victim referencing RCW 4.105.020 (1). That letter "stays" the civil proceeding for years. The letter implements a stay of the defamation proceeding through appeal. Specifically, the letter issued unilaterally by the defamer mandates that the victim now "comply with the stay obligations listed in RCW 4.105.030." Id., at .020. The stay provision of RCW 4.105.030 (1)(a) applies from the date of the defamer's letter to the conclusion of all appeals, regardless of what a trial court does with discovery or anything else. "All other proceedings between the moving party and responding party, including discovery and a pending hearing or motion, are stayed." Id., at .030. The Act's section .030 stay remains in effect "until entry of an order ruling on the motion under RCW 4.105.020." RCW 4.105.030 (2). The stay then continues

through "expiration of the time under RCW 4.105.080 9 for the moving party to appeal the order." *Id.*, at .030. When the appeal is filed, the stay now "remains in effect until the conclusion of the appeal." RCW 4.105.030(3). Moreover, this appeal is a matter of *right*. RCW 4.105.080. No merit showing need be made as would be for, e.g., discretionary review. The stay will now remain in effect for years, as it has here, from the time Cowles sent its RCW 4.105.020 letter to Mr. Thurman on December 29, 2021 (CP570-71), until today, February 12, 2024. The Act's statutory processes violate Wash. Const. art. I, § 10, because they deny Mr. Thurman, as a defamation victim, the administration of justice without unnecesary delay, as well as his art. 1 § 5 right to hold his defamer accountable for abuse of speech. The appellate court has no choice but to allow the appeal under RCW 4.105.080. Division III has rewritten this "appeal as of right" because "RCW 4.105.080 is inconsistent with RAP 2.2(d), and

⁹ Appendix at 018.

cannot be given effect. Stated differently, unless and until our Supreme Court adopts a rule allowing for direct appeal of orders denying motions under RCW 4.105.020, appellate courts should accept review of these matters only under discretionary review standards. *Thurman v. Cowles Co.*, 541 P.3d at 412. Elsewhere, however, Division III holds that " we must apply the statute as written—"we cannot rewrite plain statutory language under the guise of construction... [I]f the plain language is unambiguous, we apply that meaning." *Id.* at 409. The defendant's appeal stays the action, and must be entertained.

The stay provision of section .030, the dismissal section of section .060, and section .080's "appeal as a matter of right from an order denying, in whole or in part, a motion under RCW 4.105.020," renders the Act's limited "discovery" processes illusory, because discovery is meaningless. The defamation action will be dismissed under RCW 4.105.060(1), and *any* ruling denying that dismissal "in whole or in part," is appealable as a matter of right by the defaming defendant. The stay will

remain in effect until the conclusion of the appeal. RCW 4.105.080, and .030(3). Because the limited discovery provision becomes meaningless, it thereby conflicts with Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769 (2012), which ties the right to discovery "to the constitutional right of access to the courts." In sum, Division III errs in holding this Act to be constitutionally valid where it abrogates Washington's art. 1 § 5, as well as art. I, § 10's right to the administration of justice "without unnecessary delay," and the First Amendment right of access to the courts as an aspect of any meaningful right to petition the Government for redress of grievances, per Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d at 289. As this Court writes in *Davis v Cox*, statutes that seek to protect one group of citizens (here, who are not even engaged in protected speech) by "cutting off another group's constitutional rights of petition," are invalid. 183 Wash. 2d at 295. This Supreme Court should accept review and deem this Act invalid.

B. RCW 4.105.020, .030, .060, .080, and .090 grant impermissible special privileges and immunities to those publicly defaming others.

For the same reasons stated above, RCW 4.105 et seq. accords a special privilege (and an immunity from suit) to a defamer who is not engaged in protected speech, by infringing upon the rights of a group of citizens who are exercising such rights, and bringing claims of merit. Wash. Const. art. I, § 12.¹⁰ Division III errs in applying a "rational basis" test to this argument, because, as Division III recognizes, strict scrutiny allegedly applies where "an discriminatory statutory classification affects a...fundamental right." Thurman v. Cowles Co., 541 P.3d at 412, ref. State v. Schaaf, 109 Wn.2d 1, 17 (1987). As discussed above, RCW 4.105 affects fundamental rights under the cited constitutiona provisions. Moreover, there

¹⁰ Appendix 030.

is neither a "rational basis" nor a compelling state interest in protecting defamation as this statute does. *State ex rel. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. 119 Vote No! Comm.*, 135 Wn.2d at 628. This Supreme Court should accept review.

C. RCW 4.105.903 impermissibly punishes a defamation victim for exercising their art. 1 § 5 and First Amendment rights by mandating fees against the victim petitioner without any showing that the defamation claims are frivolous or "sham" litigation.

There is no constitutional value in "frivolous claims that are brought for improper purpose." *See Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d at 289. Statutes that financially intimidate plaintiffs into foregoing filing claims of merit, however, intimidate and thereby obstruct the First Amendment access right. It is only where a litigant "abuse(s) the heavy machinery of the judicial process for improper purposes that cause serious harm to innocent victims, such as to harass, cause delay, or chill free expression," that petitioning activity may be constitutionally punished. *Id.* Mr. Thuman's defamation claims

are not frivolous, yet he will be mandated to pay his defamer's fees under RCW 4.105.090's attorney fee provision¹¹ because his defamation claims are necessarily dismissed under RCW 4.105.060, as briefed *supra*, regardless of their merit. Mandating fee assessments against an individual for exercising rights accorded by art. 1 § 5 and the First Amendment, without any showing of any "sham" claims, chills the exercise of those rights. Division III has failed to equally rewrite (*see infra*) or invalidate this statutory provion to prevent this constitutional conflict. This Supreme Court should accept review.

D. <u>Division III impermissibly construes RCW 4.105.903's</u>

transitional provision to remove vested rights.

Division III construes the Act to apply "to causes of action pending on the Act's effective date." *Thurman v. Cowles Co.*, 541 P.3d at 407. The Act's transitional provision, RCW

¹¹ Appendix at **1**19.

4.105.903 states that, "[T]his chapter applies to a civil action filed or cause of action asserted in a civil action on or after July 25, 2021." *Id.*, at 409. Division III holds that, although Mr. Thurman's original defamation complaint was filed before July 25,2021, his original causes of action "continued to be asserted" on or after July 25, 2021, and the Act now applies to (dismiss) Mr. Thurman's original defamation claims. *Id.* This is impermissble retroactive application of an Act's terms. The construction renders the statute in conflict with Washington's Constitution, at art. I, § 3 by removing vested rights without due process of law.

An "accrued cause of action is a vested right when it 'springs from contract or from the principles of the common law." 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 587 (2006), as corrected (Nov. 15, 2006). Statutes affecting vested rights will be construed as operating prospectively only. Id. Mr. Thurman's defamation claim springs from the common law. See Schmalenberg v. Tacoma News, Inc., 87 Wn. App. 579,

600 (1997). RCW 4.105.903's transitional provision may not be construed to affect Mr Thurman's accrued cause of action for defamation against Cowles, as it vested in 2019, when Cowles's conduct occurred. Moreover, either Division III's consutruction of the transitional provision or the provision itself produces absurd results. See Samish Indian Nation v. Washington Department of Licensing, 14 Wn. App.2d 437, 444 (2020); In Matter of Dependency of D.L.B., 186 Wn.2d 103, 119, (2016); State v. Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 823 (2010). Any act by Mr. Thurman to move his case forward after July 25, 2021, such as calling the court's judicial assistant for a hearing date on a motion moving his case forward, would be an "assertion" of his original cause of action, and apply the Act to dismiss his complaint filed before the Act became effective. The RCW 4.105.903 transitional provision would thereby also conflict with Civil Rule 15, which allows amendments of a complaint to relate back the original date of filing. Stansfield v. Douglas Cnty., 146 Wn.2d 116, 122 (2002). Moreover, were the construction to hold,

then Cowles missed the Act's 60-day motion requirement, because is had been served with the original complaint on June 16, 2021. If Mr Thurman "continued to assert" his defamation claim after July 25, 2021, then Cowles had until approximately August 16, 2021 to file the RCW 4.105.020 special motion, and it did not do so. This is an inconsistent and "special privilege" construction given Cowles under consutruction of the transitional provision. This Supreme Court should accept review.

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