FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/13/2024 12:45 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102791-5 COA No. 389910 Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 21-2-01609-32

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COWLES COMPANY, Respondent

vs.

JEFFREY THURMAN, Petitioner

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Casey M. Bruner, WSBA 50168 RIVERSIDE NW LAW GROUP, PLLC 905 W. Riverside Ave. Ste. 208 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 952 - 8182 cmb@rnwlg.com

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Review by the Supreme Court of Washington is discretionary and should be reserved for the types of cases set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Washington Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) states:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Each of these considerations weigh against review in this case.

1. <u>The decision does not conflict with a decision of the</u> <u>Supreme Court.</u>

The primary issues in this case are whether UPEPE applies to a case that was filed before July 2021 but was amended after to include new and expanded claims. See RCW 4.105.903. As of this filing, Respondent has only been able to find one case that cites this statute: this one.

Similarly, the "Applicability" of the statute, RCW 4.105.010, Respondent has only been able to find three cases that cite the provision at all and none are Supreme Court decisions: *Thurman v. Cowles Co.*, 541 P.3d 403 (Wash. Ct. App. 2024); *Dimension Townhouses, LLC v. Leganieds*, LLC, No. 84969-7-I, 2024 WL 226768 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 22, 2024); *Jha v. Khan*, 24 Wash. App. 2d 377, 520 P.3d 470 (2022), review denied, 530 P.3d 182 (Wash. 2023).

RCW 4.105.020, which outlines the "Special Motion for Expedited Relief," similarly only has two citing Washington opinions: *Thurman*, 541 P.3d 403, and *Khan*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 377.

As to Petitioner's arguments regarding dismissing the CPA claim on First Amendment grounds, that issue is *consistent* with a subsequently issued Supreme Court decision in *State v. TVI, Inc.*, 524 P.3d 622, 639 (2023) ("While we affirm the Court of Appeals in result, it is not necessary to decide whether a narrowing construction could be properly applied to the CPA in an as-applied First Amendment challenge. . . . Therefore, we affirm the Court of Appeals in result. We remand to the trial court to dismiss the State's CPA claims and to rule on attorney fees and costs.").

2. <u>The decision does not conflict with any published</u> decision of the Supreme Court.

As outlined above, only three cases in total have looked at UPEPA: *Thurman*, *Dimension Townhouses*, and *Kahn*. Neither of these other two cases contradict the decision below. In fact, neither *Kahn* nor *Dimension Townhouses*, included a constitutional challenge. The cases analyzed whether particular conduct—revenge porn (*Kahn*) and property line discussion with the county assessor (*Dimension Townhouses*)—fell within UPEPA. And neither case included a CPA claim. There is no conflict with this case.

3. <u>The decision does not pose a "significant question"</u> <u>under the constitution.</u>

Additionally, the case does not pose a significant question under the constitution. The sole "constitutional" question that Petitioner speak of is an "access" to the courts claim. The Court of Appeals summed it as follows:

Whatever the right's underpinnings, however, access to the courts is not unlimited. The right of access is necessarily accompanied by those rights accorded litigants by statute, court rule or the inherent powers of the court. . . . Civil litigants enjoy a right to discovery tied to the constitutional right of access to the courts. . . .

Mr. Thurman argues, in the context of his lawsuit, the UPEPA's discovery stay under RCW 4.105.030 unconstitutionally interfered with his access to courts. We reject Mr. Thurman's as-applied challenge....

RCW 4.105.030(4) permits a court to allow limited discovery if a party shows discovery is necessary to prove the chapter does not apply. Here, Mr. Thurman did not attempt to convince the court that he needed additional discovery. This might be because he obtained substantial pertinent discovery in his litigation against Sheriff Knezovich. Had the trial court denied Mr. Thurman discovery despite a sufficient showing of need for that discovery, then we could address Mr. Thurman's as-applied challenge. But because Mr. Thurman has not established he was precluded from obtaining needed discovery, we reject his challenge.

Thurman v. Cowles Co., 541 P.3d at 411.

In other words, Petitioner's primary "constitutional" challenge is that he was denied discovery that he never asked for. This is not a significant question under the constitution.

4. <u>The decision does not involve an issue of "substantial</u> <u>public interest."</u>

Finally, the decision below does not involve an issue of "substantial public interest. While the *facts* underlying the case are newsworthy—hence the exercise of the freedom of the press and the UPEPA defense—the *decision* does not involve substantial public interest.

Recall, the primary decision being appealed is the holding that: the claims in Petitioner's amended complaint are subject to UPEPA and that the Motion for Expedited Relief is timely if filed with 60 days of an amended complaint. As a result, the decision set forth in this case would only apply to any lawsuits that (1) were pending before July 25, 2021; (2) were amended after July 25, 2021; and (3) are "against a person based on the person . . . Exercise of the right of freedom of speech or of the press, the right to assemble or petition, or the right of association, guaranteed by the United States Constitution or Washington state Constitution, on a matter of public concern." Respondent is unaware of any such case. In other words, not only is the decision being appealed not affect a substantial public interest, as far as we are aware, the decision would not affect anyone other than the parties in this case. For these procedural reason the Court should deny review. Respondent will reserve the weight of its substantive arguments for its primary brief if review is accepted. However, to fully inform the Court as to another reason why review should be denied, a summary of the arguments are below and Petitioner is unlikely to prevail on the merits.

B. Washington's Uniform Public Expression Protection Act was enacted to protect against the exact type of frivolous and retaliatory lawsuit at hand.

Petitioner's primary assertion is that "defamation" is not protected speech and, therefore, Washington's Uniform Public Expression Protection Act ("UPEPA") does not apply. This is both logically flawed and contrary to the plan text of UPEPA. First, to hold that defamatory speech is not afforded the protections of UPEPA presumes that speech was defamatory before any tribunal has found it to be defamatory. Cowles Company asserts that it did not engage in defamation and the content of the claims cannot support a claim of defamation. UPEPA's primary function is to serve as an expedited resolution mechanism when a party sues for public expression. To hold that it does not apply simply because a party alleges defamation, would necessarily mean that the expedited relief within the statute would *never* be available to a defendant. Under RCW 4.105.010(2), the statute applies to "to a cause of action asserted in a civil action against a person

based on the person's . . . Exercise of the right of freedom of speech or of the press . . . on a matter of public concern." It is undisputed that the statements that Respondent is suing under were statements published in the Spokesman Review, a regional newspaper, about the Respondent's conduct as a public officer. The statements fall squarely withing the text of UPEPA and UPEPA unquestionably applies.

C. UPEPA Standards and Construction

The Legislature passed UPEPA to safeguard the traditional First Amendment rights guaranteed to the public and the press. *See* RCW 4.105.901. "This chapter must be broadly construed and applied to protect the exercise of the right of freedom of speech and of the press, the right to assemble and petition, and the right of association, guaranteed by the United States Constitution or the Washington state Constitution." *Id.* (emphasis added).

In practice, the law creates a special procedure to quickly resolve cases which target the "[e]xercise of the right of

16

freedom of speech or of the press, the right to assemble or petition, or the right of association, guaranteed by the United States Constitution or Washington state Constitution, on a matter of public concern." RCW 4.105.010(2)(e). It does this by allowing parties to bring a special motion for expedited relief "[n]ot later than sixty days after a party is served with *a complaint*, cross-claim, counterclaim, third-party claim, *or other pleading that asserts a cause of action* to which this chapter applies... to dismiss the cause of action or part of the cause of action." RCW 4.105.020(1)-(2) (emphasis added).

RCW 4.105.020(2) lets parties "file a special motion for expedited relief to dismiss the cause of action or part of the cause of action" which targets protected public expression. Upon filing the motion, all other proceedings—including pending discovery and other motions—are stayed. RCW 4.105.030(1)(a). Further, the law explicitly limits the record for the special motion to "the pleadings, the motion, any reply or response to the motion, and any evidence that could be

17

considered in ruling on a motion for summary judgment under superior court civil rule 56." RCW 4.105.050.

D. UPEPA applies to the conduct asserted in Respondent's complaint.

As stated above, Respondent's primary assertion is that "defamation" is not protected speech and, therefore, Washington's Uniform Public Expression Protection Act ("UPEPA") does not apply. To hold that defamatory speech is not afforded the protections of UPEPA presumes that speech was defamatory before any tribunal has found it to be defamatory. Again, Cowles Company asserts that it did not engage in defamation—in fact, it asserts that it did not make the alleged statements at all. UPEPA's primary function is to serve as an expedited resolution mechanism when a party sues for public expression. To hold that it does not apply when a party *alleges* defamation, necessarily means that the expedited relief within the statute would never be available to a defendant, rendering the statute useless.

In fact, the statute has a provision for just such

arguments. Under 4.105.050, "In ruling on a motion under RCW 4.105.020, the court shall consider the pleadings, the motion, any reply or response to the motion, and any evidence that could be considered in ruling on a motion for summary judgment under superior court civil rule 56." In other words, if Respondent had made a prima facie case, and sufficient evidence to survive the CR 56 standard, then these arguments might be relevant. But they are not. Respondent is proceeding as if he has already *prevailed* at summary judgment on whether defamation occurred. He is presuming defamation. None has been found. The trial court should have applied UPEPA's expedited relief provisions to Respondent's defamation claims in this case. If it had done so, Respondent would have had the opportunity to bring his available evidence supporting defamation, had he done so, the trial court may have found that he survived the CR 56 standard based on that fact. Instead, Respondent is skipping that step and asking the court to presume that the statements do, in fact,

constitute defamation. Therefore, the issue of whether the speech is defamatory is not subject to this or any appeal.

E. UPEPA Applies to "causes of action asserted in a civil action on or after July 25, 2021."

The primary issue raised by Appellant's appeal is whether and to what extent does Washington's UPEPA apply to Respondent's defamation claims in this case based on the timing and sequencing of the pleadings and claims. This is a matter of statutory construction. The meaning of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4, 9 (2002). "[The court] start[s] with the plain and unambiguous language of a statute." *Magney*, 195 Wn.2d at 802 (citing *Campbell & Gwinn*, 146 Wash.2d at 9-10, 43 P.3d 4.). "[I]f the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent." *Id*.

RCW 4.105.903 states, in whole: "This chapter applies to a civil action filed or cause of action asserted in a civil action on or after July 25, 2021." The following facts are not undisputed in this case:

- 1. Respondent filed an Amended Complaint on December 3, 2021. CP 394.
- 2. Respondent served its Amended Complaint on December 3, 2021. CP 544.
- 3. Respondent's Amended Complaint "asserted a cause of action" for defamation *and* included new facts that form the bases for additional defamation claims. *Findings and Conclusions No. 5 & 6.* CP 924 925.
- UPEPA "applies to a civil action filed or cause of action asserted in a civil action on or after July 25, 2021." RCW 4.105.903.

Based on these undisputed facts and the plain and unambiguous language of RCW 4.105.903, UPEPA applies to Respondent's defamation claims. Nonetheless, the trial court erred in holding that UPEPA does *not* apply to *any* of Respondent's defamation claims.

F. Respondent's assertion that Cowles Company's Motion for Expedited Relief was untimely is misleading in its description and legally flawed.

In addition to arguing that the statute does not apply, Respondent also argues that Cowles Company's invocation of UPEPA was untimely. Critically, these are two separate claims that must be analyzed independently. Whether the statue applies under RCW 4.105.903 is discussed above. Whether Cowles Company timely invoked UPEPA is another matter entirely.

Respondent argues nonsensically that Cowles had the right to assert the UPEPA as of the effective date of the statute, July 25, 2021, and it had 60 days after it was served with Thurman's complaint on June 14, 2021 to file its motion.

The full statute states as follows:

(2) Not later than sixty days after a party is served with a complaint, cross-claim, counterclaim, thirdparty claim, or other pleading that asserts a cause of action to which this chapter applies, or at a later time on a showing of good cause, the party may file a special motion for expedited relief to dismiss the cause of action or part of the cause of action.

RCW 4.105.020. Critically, the statue allows a party to invoke UPEPA for 60 days after it is served with a "complaint, crossclaim, counterclaim, third-party claim, <u>or other pleading that</u> <u>asserts a cause of action to which this chapter applies</u>." *Id.* Respondent conveniently omits "or other pleading," which includes an "amended complaint." Again, the following facts are undisputed: (1) Respondent filed an Amended Complaint on December 3, 2021; (2) Respondent served its Amended Complaint on December 3, 2021. These are "other pleadings" under the statute and Cowles Company had the right to assert UPEPA protection for causes of action asserted in that "other pleading."

G. Washington's UPEPA is constitutional.

Respondent argues that UPEPA is unconstitutional because it abrogates the common law claim of defamation and prevents him from petitioning the Court. But special motions under UPEPA operate under the dispositive motion standards of CR 12 and CR 56, depending on the moving party's argument. RCW 4.105.050; RCW 4.105.060(1)(c). As Washington Courts have long recognized, "[w]hen there is no genuine issue of material fact, ... summary judgment proceedings do not infringe upon a litigant's constitutional right to a jury trial." *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289, 351 P.3d 862 (2015).

Nor does UPEPA contain any substantive protections or

immunities that would prevent Mr. Thurman from adjudicating his claims. See RCW4.105 et seq. Nor does it otherwise shift the burden of proof or create artificial barriers plaintiffs need to meet to keep their claims alive before the dispositive motion stage. Rather, UPEPA protects free expression by: (1) temporarily staying discovery; (2) allowing parties to file a "special motion for expedited relief"; and (3) allowing the parties to recover costs and fees if certain conditions are met. RCW 4.105.010(2)(c); RCW 4.105.020-.040; RCW 4.105.090. UPEPA also contains provisions which allow for the taking of additional discovery, continuing the hearing date to allow for more proceedings, or for awarding fees to the non-moving party. RCW 4.105.030(4); RCW 4.105.040(1); RCW 4.105.090(2).

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